CANADIAN MOVE, WELCOME

The Canadian High Commission’s refusal to grant visa to retired Intelligence Bureau officials and a BSF constable, followed by threats by Indian authorities to “retaliate” are interesting. Indian corporate media and Indian government have questioned the Visa Form details for Indians visiting Canada, calling, “It is highly intrusive and uncalled for, particularly from the military service personnel, who have been questioned to disclose classified information which is purposeless.” Visa is not a right, but a privilege and every govt. has its own visa regime. The threat by the Indian government to reciprocate is meaningless, as Canadian government has no such problem; there is no conflict, rebellion and perpetrators.  
The Indian state feels agitated whenever questioned on human rights or to furnish accountability at home on the issue of institutional suppression and oppression on religious minorities, and its role in J&K. At home the state is being supported by media, a section of civil society, even rewards and awards are being conferred to the perpetrators, who have rendered ‘exemplary services’ for the territorial integrity of India, which they think is paramount. The media has made national heroes out of killers in Punjab. It is perceived that Sikh diaspora, after lobbying hard in Canada, has succeeded in pushing the Canadian government. That is why in the visa applications the Indian security forces are being asked about their involvement in the Operation Blue Star. It is imperative to know that after 1984 operation, in which more than 5000 Sikhs were massacred by state functionaries, commissions and enquiries were conducted and the exhaustive legal processes are still going on endlessly, and justice elusive. One of the perpetrators L.K.H. Baghat, a congress man who was indicted had peaceful death. The Indian institutions have miserably failed to deliver justice and it seems unlikely in near future also. Had the culprits been taken to justice, there would have been no locus standi for any country to question such things. On the contrary, it would have enhanced the credibility of Indian democracy. 
It is the failure compounded with arrogance, obsession with sovereignty, which has made Indian state irrational to a certain extent. Indian Sikh diaspora has played an important role in western countries. The Jews are good and bad example of that. The country systematically suppresses religious minorities, as the case in point is Gujarat Muslim pogrom 2002, and the perpetrators are frequenting other countries with an exception of Chief Minister Narendra Modi, who was denied visa by US twice. The visa denial to Modi was the result of hard lobbying by Sikh diaspora and Indian progressive groups.     

We appreciate the Canadian government’s stand, which is trendsetting. We congratulate Sikh diaspora for their lobbying efforts, which could be inspirational for Kashmiri diaspora in UK and elsewhere, who are there in huge number. There are four parliamentarians of Kashmiri origin in Britain. Only holding seminars, which is of course encouraging, is not sufficient, they have to follow the Canadian example, as it is the need of the hour. 

Though we are encouraged, but are not optimistic how far the Canadian govt. can stick to its stand. Invariably, govt’s cave in because of the trade relations and national interest. India has threatened to cancel defence and non-defence deals with the governments questioning its role within India. It should be followed by other democratic countries having vibrant civil society committed to International Humanitarian Law. In fact in all countries, if human right violations are to be checked, the perpetrators should be individually accounted for according to principle laid down by Nuremburg’s trial. We have the knowledge, how the perpetrators/authorities are visiting frequently to attend human rights conferences in Geneva. The victims here in Kashmir should prepare a blueprint and approach the governments, committed to human rights to some extent like European countries and lobby to incorporate these things in visa applications, as it will send strong message to perpetrators and govt. which shields them.

J&K state, the highest militarized zone of the world where troopers, paramilitary forces and police are operating with legal impunity and are not feeling accountable to anyone. Identifying such officials by local groups with complete dossier of their crimes they have committed and same should be send to embassies, and lobbying for doing the needful. It will definitely make a difference. 

FAKE ENCOUNTER OF 3 YOUTH IN MACHIL SECTOR OF KUPWARA

The truth about the fake encounter of three disappeared youth of Nadihal village of Rafiabad surfaced one month after they have been killed by the troopers of Army’s 4 Rajputana Rifles in a stage managed encounter in Machil sector of north Kashmir’s Kupwara district. The trio Shahzad Ahmad Khan (26) son of Ghulam Mohammad, Mohammad Shafi Lone (19) son of Abdul Rasheed and Riyaz Ahmad Lone (20) son of Mohammad Yousuf had gone missing on April 29 after they had left for work to Kupwara. 


On May 27, the J&K Chief Minister Omar Abdullah, under great public pressure, ordered a magisterial probe into the incident. 
Police launched investigation into the disappearance of the trio after continuous protest demonstrations in Rafiabad area. The families of victims accused the police of shielding a former Special Police Officer (SPO), Bashir Ahmad involved into the disappearance of the three youth. The series of undertaking by locals with help of some police officials resulted in the expose of fake encounter killing of three missing boys on the intervening night of April 29 and April 30 by Indian Army’s 4 Rajputana Rifles in Machil sector. The innocent youth after killing were portrayed off as militants. The locals said that the boys were killed by army for the greed of earning promotion and reward. 

A research team of APDP visited Nadihal area of Rafiabad and talked to the victim families and locals of the village about the killing of three youth in fake encounter.

Ghulam Mohammad Khan, father of slain Shahzad stated, “Shahzad was a laborer and was feeding his wife and five-year-old son. On April 27, morning he left for work and on the way he was seen by Bashir Ahmad Lone son of Ghulam Nabi of Nadihal, a former SPO and an active army and SOG informer. Bashir had offered my son work with adequate wages, which tempted him and he went along with him. Bashir had boarded him in a Sumo vehicle in which two more boys, Mohammad Shafi and Riyaz Ahmad of our village were also on board. Bashir had taken all the three to Kalaroos Kupwara for work, where he got them to meet with army Major. The Major told them to go back citing the bad weather reason and told them to come again on April 29. On the evening of April 27 the trio including my son dropped back in the village and were paid rupees 500 each. Bashir had told them to come again on April 29. “ 

He added, “Neither my son nor two other boys informed at home that they had gone for work in Kalaroos with Bashir and decided to go again on April 29. My son had only told to his best friend Fayaz Ahmad Wani alias Gazi of Tujjar Sopore that he had gone to Kupwara with army informer Bashir Ahmad on April 27. On April 29, morning Shehzad left for routine work and did not return in the evening.”

Abdul Rasheed Lone father of slain Shafi said, “My son was associated with fruit business but during off season he used to go for daily labour work. On the fateful morning he left for work in Baramulla and did not return in the evening.”

Similarly Riyaz Ahmad Lone according to his parents left home early in the morning of April 29 and told them that he has to go for work. The trio did not return in the evening which made families apprehensive about their safety.

“When our children did not return even on the second day we got worried and started to search them at their friend’s houses and at our relatives places. Despite our continuous search we could not receive any information about their whereabouts, “said father of Riyaz Ahmad.

Asha Begum, wailing mother of Shehzad said, “When we failed to trace the whereabouts of our son for three days, we got anxious. Then I thought that my son’s best friend Fayaz could provide me some clue because Shehzad used to share everything with him. I asked Fayaz about him. Initially he refrained to tell me anything but after I insisted repeatedly he said that Bashir took Shehzad and other two boys with him to work in Kalaroos. Due to fear of consequences Fayaz requested me not to disclose that he provided the information.”

She added, “Then we went to Bashir’s house and asked him about Shehzad. He replied that he has not taken Shehzad for any work and refused to have any knowledge about him. Then we came back and next day we visited his house again but he was not there. His father told that he had gone to Baramulla for some work. For couple of days we made regular visits to his house but could not find him. Just after our first meeting with him he had absconded.  To locate him we went to meet his brother Abdul Qayoom who is a Special Operations Group (SOG) personnel deployed with SP (Superintendent Police) Operations in Baramulla. Qayoom said that he would try to confirm about the whereabouts of youth. More than a week passed Qayoom told us that he got information that the trio have been sent to Pakistan by ISI (Inter Service Intelligence). To save and avert suspicions on Bashir, Qayoom tried to mislead us by saying that our beloved sons have gone to Pakistan. “

Abdul Rasheed disconsolate father of Shafi said, “Both Bashir and Qayoom were playing delaying tactics and tried to make us believe that our children have gone to Pakistan for arms training. We knew Bashir well as he was already involved in extortion and terrorizing people in the village. Few weeks before taking our children, Bashir was dismissed from the position of SPO by police department for some erroneous act in our village. After we received accurate clue from Fayaz we became sure that Bashir might have done something troublesome to our children. We could not pressurize him because of the fear of further harm as he was notorious in the village for his links with army and SOG.”


”On the 11th day of Shehzad’s disappearance we received a phone call from Soura Srinagar on my younger son’s cell number. The caller identifying himself as Shehzad said that he is fine and asked about the well being of Shehzad’s wife and 5 year old baby. My younger son could not recognize the voice properly before he could have asked the caller that where from he was calling, the phone got disconnected. When we called back we came to know that the call was made from a local PCO at Soura, Srinagar. This further troubled us. The call was made by Bashir to give us a thought that our son has voluntarily missing, “said Ghulam Mohammad. 

Abdul Rasheed, further stated, “When Bashir and Qayoom did not admit anything about the whereabouts of missing boys. We approached police stations, Panzala, Rafiabad and filed a missing report. We also registered a complaint against accused Bashir Ahmad. Few days after registering case we held a Dharna at Ladoora on Baramulla-Handwara highway. We demanded arrest of Bashir and investigation into the disappearance of our sons. During demonstration, some high ups from police and civil administration visited the spot and assured us justice.”

The victim families expressed, “few days after protest demonstration police arrested Bashir and started investigation. After Bashir’s interrogation he acknowledged that on April 29, he gave all the three boys to one Territorial Army trooper Abbas Shah of Kamalkote, Uri and army informer Abdul Hameed of Kawhara, Baramulla, who took the trio youth in a Tata Sumo bearing registration number JK05B-0982 and ferried them to Thiyan Kalaroos camp of 4 Rajputana Rifles. In the camp the boys were handed over to Major Bupendar who boarded the trio in another vehicle and took them to Machil sector. Where on the intervening night of April 29 and April 30 they were killed in a stage managed battle and portrayed off as militants.”

The traumatized parents added, “Even on April 27 our beloved sons were taken to the same army camp into the same Tata Sumo which is owned by its driver Javaid Ahmed of Banddaji of Sheeri, who was hired by his friend, Abdul Hameed (army informer). On both days Javaid Banddaji ferried our youth to Kalaroos.”

“After Bashir’s arrest and interrogation police also arrested king pin Abbas, Hameed and driver Javaid. During further investigations the accused admitted that they sold Shehzad, Shafi and Riyaz to Major Bupender of 4 Rajputana Rifles for rupees 1, 54,000. Out of the total sum 54000 were taken by Bashir and 50000 each by Abbas and Hameed. 

 
In addition to Major Bupender police has also identified another Army official involved in the killing of trio. The officer has been named as Satbir Singh of 4 Rajputana Rifles with the rank of Junior Commissioned Officer. The JCO had lodged an FIR in Kalaroos police station on April 30 stating that three militants have been killed by troopers.

After expose of killings of missing trio in fake encounter, police and forensic experts on the orders of the government exhumed all the three bodies from a martyr graveyard in Kalaroos. The forensic experts collected DNA samples from them and sent it to the forensic medical laboratory in Delhi. According to local sources the DNA report is expected to be received in 40-45 days and police is planning to produce a challan against all the accused persons in court of law in next 60 days, as they have to wait for the forensic report.

The locals of Nadihal expressed that many a youth who have gone missing in the Baramulla or other districts from last 20 years might have met the same fate. 

“This case got exposed because we had some local witnesses of the incident and the accused was a resident of our village. Other cases of same nature might have never been exposed or come into notice of people”, locals said. 

They further articulated, “We don’t know whether the case of fake encounter killings of our boys would be investigated on impartial basis or similar to that Shopian rape and murder case, where in the investigation agencies portrayed off the rape and murder of two girls as a simple case of drowning, which was very sad. We demand that all the accused involved in the killing of our innocent children should be dealt with sternly according to law.”  

“The government has taken a serious note of the killings and has ordered a magisterial probe,” the Chief Minister said. 

A senor official of police told media, “The investigation is in progress and police may seek possession of Major to question him regarding his involvement in the fake encounter”. Police has found that army paid Rs 1, 50,000 to the three accused for handing three youth to them.   
 Army’s statement over the killings:

Army on April 30 claimed to have foiled an infiltration bid along the Line of Control in Machil sector of Kupwara by killing three militants. “At around 3 am today, the army men deployed along the Line of Control observed three militants trying to cross over to this side through Machil sector in Kupwara district. On being challenged, they opened fire on the troopers. The fire was returned and in the ensuing gunfight, all three militants were killed,” army spokesman Lt Col J S Brar had said.

The army had claimed that five AK-rifles, a pistol and some ammunition were recovered from the encounter site. “The identity of the slain militants is being ascertained. Probably they tried to use bad weather conditions to sneak in. But the alert troops foiled their attempt,” Col Brar had said.


The Army registered an FIR number 67/10 under Section 307 RPC and 7/27 Arms Act in Kalaroos police station stating that they had killed three militants.

DISAPPEARED YOUTH IN KOT BHALWAL JAIL: FAMILY

Parents of then sixteen-year-old, Nasir are still waiting of their son’s return who had gone to School fifteen years before to submit the examination form. On July 7, 1995, Nasir s/o Mohammad Yousuf Malik r/o Akingam, Banpora Acabal, Anantnag district of south Kashmir had gone to school to submit his examination form and never returns since then. Nasir had to appear in 10th class examination. Nasir’s parents have no idea how he disappeared but they have sufficient leads to believe that Nasir had lodged in Kot Bhalwal or another jail of the state.   

On 10 February 2010, Nasir’s father Mohammad Yousuf, an employee with SMHS hospital at Srinagar approached the office of The Informative Missive to document his ordeal. 

Yousuf while unfolding his tale said, “On the fateful morning of July 7, 1995, at around 9.30 am, Nasir left for his school Govt. High School at Akingam (about 1 ½ km from our house) to submit the 10th class examination form and since then he was not seen again. My son was never inclined to militancy nor did he had any interest in any political activity. His only focus was his studies. When he didn’t turned up till late evening we got perturbed, but it was impossible then to launch a search, as our area was highly militarized. So we wait for the morning. Next day, on July 8, Nasir’s uncle Abdul Aziz Malik went to then concerned police station Dooru and filed a missing report there.” 

He further said, “We contacted all our relatives and Nasir’s friends but without any success. We also searched him in different districts. Since my colleagues hailing from different districts they also made searches in their respective areas but didn’t find him anywhere. In year 2000, an unknown person dropped a letter at my house, which read that Nasir was killed in Bechardi, Poonch in an encounter. I along with my wife Saleema went to Poonch but didn’t find him there either dead or alive. When we enquired from Poonch police about Nasir, the officials told us they know nothing about such boy, as the militants killed in encounter were not from the valley.” 

On time of Yousuf’s disappearance the Anantnag district was infested by army backed government sponsored gunmen locally known as Ikhwanis. 

“In 1995, our district was literally ruled by army backed and government sponsored gunmen (Ikhwanis). These Ikhwanis were involved in criminal activities in the name of counter militancy. But it was difficult to make out which agency actually picked him and why. But there are enough leads to suggest that he might have been picked up by some state agency,” Mohammad Yousuf said.  

Nasir’s family was adamant to know the truth about the fate of their child. The family never gives up the search and is making determined efforts to locate him. 

“In year 2000, a CRPF constable Maskoor Ahmad Lone hailing from our neighbouring village Hardpora informed us that Nasir has died in February 12 Jammu train blast. On hearing this, we got further disturbed, but held our nerves and sought help form concerned police station Acabal to ascertain the identities of the blast victims. The police after its investigation told us that among the victims were not Nasir. But to made ourselves sure, we went to Jammu where my wife’s cousin, Ali Mohammad Malik, an employee with Industries Department was posted, who told us that among the victims were not Nasir since he had confirmed that”, Yousuf added.

When nothing came to fore about Nasir’s fate, Mohammad Yousuf moved an application to the office of Deputy Commissioner Anantnag for seeking its help. 

Mohammad Yousuf further revealed, “On December 23-2002, I moved an application to the office of Deputy Commissioner Anantnag which directed then SSP Anantnag to register a case. The then SSP directed the Dooru police station to furnish its report in Nasir’s disappearance. But officials at Dooru police station informed us that their records were destroyed in a fire incident and told us to take Acabal police station’s help. The Acabal police recorded statements of family and submits its report to SSP Muneer Khan. But the SSP didn’t take the report seriously and shelved the case.”

Frustrated by the police mishandling of the case, Mohammad Yousuf again wrote to DC Anantnag for its intervention.  

“On February 26-2004, I moved another application to the office of Deputy Commission Anantnag, which again wrote to SSP, but there was no response from SSP office. Again on 15 July 2004, I wrote an application to DC Anantnag and also met Education Minister for his intervention. The Education Minister wrote to SSP Anantnag to furnish its report. In the SSP office, I was shocked by the officials, who told me to paste the application on electric pole and the minister will himself come to know about it,” Yousuf said.

There was an interesting twist in Nasir’s disappearance when a detainee through a girl informed Nasir’s family that he was languishing in Kot Bhalwal jail.

Mohammad Yousuf said, “As we were disappointed from almost every quarter, in the year 2005, a youth of Kulgam detained at Kot Bhalwal, who was brought to District Court Anantnag for hearing, told a girl (our neighbour married in Kulgam) to inform us that Nasir was detained in Kot Bhalwal Jail, Jammu in barrack No. 11. Disbelieved but excited, I along with my wife went to Kot Bhalwal jail to see our son, but the then Jail Superintendent didn’t allow us to meet him. Thrice we made attempts to see him but in vain. On our insistence, the superintendent told us that no one from Kashmir was detained there, and all inmates were Pakistani nationals.”

“In the same year, another detainee from Shangus detained in Kot Bhalwal was brought to Acabal police station, before being formally released, told me that Nasir was detained in Kot Bhalwal jail Jammu in barrack No. 11 with Pakistanis. We again made two visits to Kot Bhalwal jail, but the superintendent jail there told us that Nasir was not detained there. Again in March 2007, our hopes rekindled, when one STF personnel Vinod, a Kashmiri Pandit, who lives in our neighborhood informed my brother Ghulam Mustafa Malik to bail out Nasir, as he was rotting in Kot Bhalwal. He also told him that he was detained as Pakistani national and was named deaf and dumb in the jail. But this time before meeting the jail superintendent, we approached concerned MLA Peerzada Mohammad Syed, who assured us that he will facilitate our entry inside the jail and manage our meeting with the inmates lodged in Kot Bhalwal. He also told us to call him on reaching there. From outside the jail, I called him thrice, but he didn’t pay serious attention. On my insistence, he told me to give his phone number to jail superintendent. He also assured us that the jail superintendent will call us inside. But when there was no call from jail superintendent for ½ an hour, meanwhile, a CID sleuth on duty outside the jail, observing our pathetic conditions, told us to send a slip to jail superintendent for meeting. After sending the slip a little later we were called into the superintendent office. The superintendent told us it was not possible to parade all the inmates and showed us the jail registry, in which there was no proper information available about the detainees, and it was impossible to identify Nasir. The jail superintendent told us not to waste time and return back,” Yousuf lamented.

Mohammad Yousuf sought the judicial intervention and filed a petition in the court. 

“In 2008, I filed a writ petition before High Court, Srinagar and the court directed the state and jail superintendent to file objection. But there was no response either from state or jail superintendent. The Court on 26.5.2009 directed the jail administration to permit the parents of Nasir detained in Kot Bhalwal jail in according with the rules governing the field. But the court direction was observed in breach by the jail superintendent instead the superintendent told me the media reporting and court could not help us. He also told us not to come again there. Disappointed we returned back home,” Yousuf said.  

Mohammad Yousuf said, “In year 2009, a team of International Committee for Red Cross (ICRC) visited our area and my younger son Ishtiyaq Ahmad sought their help in locating Nasir. But the ICRC expressed its helplessness in helping us in securing his release or ascertaining his whereabouts. But we at home are sure enough that one day, sooner or later Nasir will return back.”  

On 9 October 2009, Mohammad Yousuf approached the Chief Minister’s Office to seek its help. 

“When nothing happened, I filed an application before CM’s secretary who directed the SSP Anantnag to furnish his report on Nasir’s disappearance. The SSP office in its reply wrote back to CM office that the said boy had gone to Pakistan for arms training. It was a blatant lie, as the police was not willing to share the truth about Nasir’s whereabouts. Since I have enough reasons to believe that he was languishing in Kot Bhalwal jail or if not there but in another jail, as they might have shifted him after my efforts to locate him,” Mohammad Yousuf averred.   


 Nasir’s disappearance disturbed his family. Mohammad Yousuf said, “Since Nasir’s disappearance my wife Saleema developed heart ailment and got mentally disturbed. She often turns violent and is completely dependent on medicine. My two children, Ishtiyaq, 27, and my daughter Shabrooza. 25, left studies halfway, as they failed to maintain their focus on their studies. The family was in complete disarray since Nasir’s disappearance. Often we were consoling each other, but I don’t know how far it will work. Time and again we break down in tears. But we are highly hopeful of his return and has decided not to give up the search come what may. We believe that Nasir is languishing in Kot Bhalwal, as were told not only by jail inmates but also by one police personnel who have access to the jails. This really strengthened our resolve and I will not rest till I know the whereabouts of Nasir,” Yousuf expressed firmly.               

MY SON PROMISED HE WILL RETURN BEFORE DUSK 

For years Nundi Begam, 50, is struggling to know the fate of her disappeared son Muzaffar who left home for his routine work in 1997. This poor lady is courageously fighting all odds of life. Nundi, a resident of Mahrajpora, Sopore of Baramulla district was living a peaceful life till her son disappeared without trace. 

Now thirteen years elapsed and there is no news of her son’s fate. Various people came to her with different stories about her son’s fate, which she did not believe. She firmly believes that her son will return, as he had promised her to be back before dusk. A missing report was filed with Sopore police station. 

Nundi’s son Muzaffar Ahmad Dar, then eighteen years of age, had massive domestic responsibilities, which he was successfully performing. The poverty ridden family had pinned all its hope on him. Muzaffar was working as a bus conductor with a private bus to earn livelihood. 

Desperate Nundi while unfolding her tale to The Informative Missive said, “On 23 August 1997 at 8.00 am Muzaffar left for his routine work. He was a bus conductor with KMD bus plying on Sopore – Kupwara rout. He hardly used to stay away from home even for a single night. When he didn’t returned back till late evening, we contacted his friends to check out. But all of them told us he didn’t meet them on that day.”

“Perturbed, next day, I along with my husband went to his bus stand, where we were told by the drivers and his colleagues he was not shown up there from last one day. On hearing this, our fears deepen further. We went to the driver with whom he was working. The driver informed us that Muzaffar had told him that he had some unavoidable work, and for few days he sought leave. On hearing this, we got totally disturbed, as to what work he has to do”, Nundi said.

 Nundi further said, “If he would have any work for which he needs leave, he would have certainly told us. Even if he would have some engagement somewhere, he could have been returned back after finishing it, but he couldn’t. We launched a massive search for him. A missing report was filed in concerned police station. We also approached Handwara and Kupwara police stations but without any success. Also we made public his disappearance in local media. But nothing came out.” 

“On September 8, 2004, we moved an application for ex gratia relief to the office of the Deputy Commissioner Baramulla. The DC wrote to the then SSP Baramulla for furnishing its report, which is still awaited. If relief would have been paid to us, it will mitigate our financial problems to a grater extent”, Nundi said. 

Various people came to the family with their own stories, but none has sufficient proof, it was all based on assumption.

“Some of our neighbours and family friends dished-out their own stories. Some told us, he might have crossed over to Pakistan Administered Kashmir (PAK) for arms training. Few told he may have got martyred somewhere, as he might have joined militant ranks. But there was nothing convincing in their hypothesis. We at home were dead sure he can’t join militancy, as he had no inclination towards militancy.  It was a luxury, which he can’t afford.  He was well-aware about his domestic responsibilities. His only concern was to earn livelihood and support the family. He can’t afford to leave us,” Nundi asserted.

Nundi while highlight her suffering further said, “Muzaffar’s disappearance disturbed the entire family. My husband is suffering from chronic heart ailment and I had to push my minor sons, Tanveer Ahmad, 17, and Jeghangir 15, to child labour. Both are working as street vendors. These kids in their playing days came forward to shoulder the family’s cumbersome responsibilities. I completely lost peace of mind. I have strong apprehensions about the safety of my two other sons.”

“The tragedy is beyond darning, it seemed there would not be any respite till Muzaffar returns back. I pray day in day out to see him again. I am highly hopeful that he will return some day,” Nundi concludes.
CIVILIAN KILLED IN RAFIABAD

May 8:  Army’s claim of killing six militants at Daggerpora encounter came under question when the family of one of the deceased Ghulam Mohammad Kumar alleged that their son had nothing to do with militancy. Kumar’s family alleged that their son was kidnapped by unknown gunmen whose identity is yet to be ascertained. Soon the news of his killing spread in Rafiabad, Baramulla Kumar’s native village, people in huge number went to streets to protest his killing. Army in its FIR showed him a militant they had killed at Daggerpora, Sheikhpora of Dangiwacha in an encounter.


Kumar’s relatives alleged that he was kidnapped by unknown gunmen for unknown reasons. “On the intervening night of  May 6 and 7 we heard his screams for help from his room, which was adjacent to PHE reservoir, where he was sleeping. Before we reached to his room we saw gunmen, most of them masked, were dragging him and took him along.  It was difficult to identify them as there was dark outside and also most of them were masked”, Kumar’s father Mohammad Subhan said.   


Protests erupted in Rafiabad, Panzala in Baramulla district after locals accused troops of killing a civilian Ghulam Mohammad Kumar during the recent encounter at Daggerpora, Sheikhpora of Dangiwacha. Army had claimed that six militants were killed in the gunfight. Deputy Commissioner Baramulla said that probe needs to be done to ascertain whether the deceased was a civilian or a militant. 


Relatives of Ghulam Mohammad alleged that he was picked up by some unknown gunmen during the intervening night of May 6 and 7 from his residence. “Kumar as usual slept in a room near PHE reservoir, which is adjacent to his residence. At midnight we heard screams and he was crying for help. We rushed out but the gunmen dragged him along with them,” said Kumar’s father Mohammad Subhan, a daily wager in PHE

.
He said, “I don’t know the identity of the gunmen as most of them were masked.  We hoped he will return in the morning. However, when he did not return we lodged a missing report in local police station on next evening.”


Maintaining that Kumar was not affiliated with any outfit, Subhan said, “He was working at home and was part of Tableeg-e-Jammat. I never heard about any misdemeanors of my son. He was innocent but unfortunately, he was picked up for no reason and was returned only in shroud.” The deceased is survived by two sisters and a brother besides old parents.


Police handed over Kumar’s body to his relatives on May 8. He was later laid to rest at his ancestral graveyard, where hundreds of people attended his Nimaz-e –Jinaza (funeral prayers) amidst chanting of pro-freedom and pro-Islamic slogans. Complete shutdown was observed in Dangiwacha, Rafiabad and adjoining areas. The shops and business establishments remained closed and traffic was off the roads.


Later, people in large numbers took to roads and staged pro-freedom demonstrations. Chanting pro-freedom and anti-India slogans, the protestors, who were demanding a probe into Kumar’s killing and stern punishment to the culprits, tried to march towards Deputy Commissioner Baramulla’s office. However, they were intercepted near Tragpora, where police and Para-military personnel were deployed in strength. The cops fired tear smoke shells and resorted to baton charge to disperse the protestors.


Kumar was shown as one of the six militants killed in a gunfight in Rafiabad, Panzla on May 7 by army. According to FIR lodged in Police Station Dangiwacha, army claimed to have killed six militants and recovered six AK 47 rifles from their possession. DIG North Kashmir A Q Manhas told media that the family of Kumar lodged missing report only after his death was confirmed. “If he was picked up at night why didn’t his family members register missing report on next day morning? They filed report only when he was confirmed dead”. Manhas said the investigations will reveal whether Kumar was innocent or had association with any outfit.


Deputy Commissioner Baramulla, Basheer Ahmad said probe needs to be done as people claim that he was a civilian and not a militant. “We will wait for the investigation report of police. I will look into the matter to ascertain whether he was a civilian or had association with any militant outfit,” he said.

DEMONSTRATIONS IN RAFIABAD

MISSING YOUTH BROUGHT DEAD FROM DELHI

May 16: Thousands of people from Rohama, Baramulla held massive protest demonstrations against the alleged killing of a local youth by Delhi police. Reports said the deceased youth Abdul Reheem Gojri was on way to Aligarh along with his cousin Parvaiz Ahmad Gojri to meet his niece who was pursuing her studies at a special school for blind people there. They had left for the journey on May 11. The relatives of the deceased youth have held Delhi police responsible for his killing as they alleged that the body of the Abdul Reheem was carrying torture marks. 


When the dead body in a Delhi based Ambulance under registration No DL1A/2161 reached Rohama village, thousands of people took to streets and started protesting against the alleged murder of the youth in suspicious circumstances by Delhi police. 


Parvaiz Ahmad told media persons, “We reached Jammu on May 11 and on the same evening we started our journey by train.” During the journey due to extreme hot weather Abdul Reheem would remain at the window for fresh air, and at one point of time, he did not return for a long time and when I went to check for him, he was not there.” 


According to the family members of Abdul Reheem, they received a phone call of Abdul Reheem from a PCO, wherein he said that he was alright but had lost his cousin Parvaiz somewhere. They said that when Parvaiz had reached Aligarh, the family members handed over the telephone number of that PCO to Parvaiz where from Abdul Reheem had earlier called his family members at home. 

Parvaiz on reaching back to New Delhi located the PCO and was informed by the owner Ashok Kumar that Abdul Reheem was present in the area but had left later. 


As per Parvaiz, he tried to locate his cousin wherever it was possible for him and even checked the rail tracks but all in vain. Lastly, a missing report was lodged with the Punjabi Bagh police station. 


On May 14, Parvaiz said, he was informed by the police that they have recovered Abdul Reheem from the railway station and he was safe in police custody. But on reaching the spot, Parvaiz said that he was shocked when the dead body of Abdul Reheem was shown to him by the police. Later on after the postmortem, the police arranged the ambulance for the dead body which reached today at the native place of Abdul Reheem. 


Meanwhile, as the people came to know about the suspicious death of Abdul Reheem, they blocked the Baramulla-Kupwara national highway and kept the body there which resulted in the traffic blockade. The family members and the relatives of the deceased youth rejected the postmortem done in Delhi, as they alleged that Abdul Reheem was killed in custody and there were vivid signs of torture and burn marks. 


The demonstration continued for hours together. It was due to the assurances of district SP police and other officials that the protest ended on the condition that a fresh postmortem would be conducted and the police in Rafiabad would also initiate investigation into the killing. 


Later on the postmortem of the deceased was conducted by the block medical officer Dr Mohammad Ramzan who said that the vital samples have been collected and they would be sent to the forensic laboratory only after which the correct reasons for the death of Abdul Reheem could be ascertained. One of the doctors said that he found ample signs of torture and other burn marks on the body during the postmortem.


In this regard, SP Sopore Altaf Ahmad said that a full investigation will be conducted and all the factors would be analyzed in which the death of Abdul Reheem took place. He said, for this purpose, police will be soon contacting Delhi police for further information.


On May 17, complete shutdown was observed in Rohama to protest against the mysterious death. All shops, educational institutions and government offices remained closed and traffic was off the roads. 


On May 18, the Delhi police said that post mortem received by them showed that there were no external injuries on the body of deceased. “The post mortem reveals that there were apparently no external injuries on his body,” Delhi police spokesman Rajan Baghat told media.

SOPORE TRADERS FEDERATION PRESIDENT SHOT DEAD

May 23: Unidentified gunmen shot dead the President of Sopore Traders Federation in Sopore town of north Kashmir. The federation urged the government to investigate the killing. 


“Gunmen fired upon Ghulam Nabi Khan, 52, from a close range when he was on way to Ambragad where he owned an ice-cream factory. Khan received three bullets in his head. He was rushed to a hospital where doctors declared him brought dead,” a police official said.

 
Khan, a resident of Noorbagh, New Colony, Sopore, was also associated with the ruling National Conference. He is survived by a wife, two sons and a daughter. The markets in the town including main Chowk and near general bus stand remained closed for the day.


Meanwhile, the traders’ federation Sopore has called for a strike in Sopore on May 24 to protest Khan’s killing. They have urged the authorities to investigate the matter and bring the culprits to the book. Police said it had registered a case and initiated the investigations.

JKCCS FRAMES CODEBOOK FOR COMBATANTS

‘ARMED FORCES, MILITANTS SHOULD ENSURE SECURITY OF CIVILIANS’

May 3: Urging armed forces and militants to ensure security of civilians, Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS) has sent a written appeal for observance of International Humanitarian Law in the State to the Chief Minister, Omar Abdullah, the Chairman of United Jehad Council, Syed Salahuddin and top army, paramilitary CRPF and police officials in the State.

A statement of JKCCS issued here said that on April 30 the organization sent appeals to the Chief Minister and the Chairman of Unified High Command, Omar Abdullah; the Chairman of United Jehad Council, Syed Salahuddin; Core Commander of Northern Command of Indian Army, Lt Gen B S Jaswal; Director General of Jammu and Kashmir Police, Kuldeep Khoda and IGP CRPF, P V K Reddy for observing International Humanitarian Law in Jammu and Kashmir.

“We as a civil society organization feel duty-bound to remind the State as well as non-state actors of their moral, legal, religious obligations in the context of continuing armed conflict about their responsibilities in protecting civilian lives, property and civil rights,” the statement said.

JKCCS has requested both State and non-state combatants to consider their appeal and make public commitment in this regard besides taking necessary safeguards in adhering to the basic principles of International Humanitarian Law in Jammu and Kashmir.

The statement said that so far JKCCS had not received any response from any side regarding this appeal. “We today are making this appeal public in order to build public opinion and solicit public response to our concerns from both State and non-state combatants.”

The statement said: “We believe positive response from the State and non-state combatants regarding our appeal will go a long way in increasing an atmosphere of security for the civilian lives, dignity and property in J&K.”

The statement quoting the appeal of the JKCCS said that as a state, India was a signatory to Geneva Conventions and other International humanitarian instruments, which regulate conduct of combat in all conflict situations wherein tensions heighten to direct hostilities among states or between state and certain non-state actors and groups. “Being signatory to Geneva Conventions brings in its wake various moral, legal checks upon states in their conduct of combat operations particularly when the sites of hostilities involve and are interspersed with huge civilian spaces.”

The JKCCS said J&K had been the main site of hostilities particularly during the last two decades, between Indian state actors represented by its personnel in military, paramilitary and police against armed militants belonging to various outfits working under an alliance of United Jehad Council (UJC). 

“UJC in 2005 adopted and publicized its Code of Conduct, which was supposed to be binding on all the armed militant organizations and their cadres operating in J&K. This Code of Conduct was a unilateral commitment of UJC to abide by some of the basic principles of International Humanitarian Law. Later in October 2007, UJC, while signing the Unilateral Declaration on the Ban of use of landmines also reiterated its commitment to abide by all four covenants of Geneva Conventions.”

The statement said State of India, through its signing of various International humanitarian instruments and United Jehad Council (also its constituents) through their unilateral declarations, Code of Conduct and various public statements had been reiterating their position vis-à-vis the loss of civilian lives and property and talking about their mechanisms for ensuring protection of civilian life and property. “However, commitments made by the State of India, besides her promises, from time to time has seen very little or no enforcement on ground during the heightened phase of conflict for the last two decades particularly with respect to the treatment meted out to civilian population. Despite all the public commitments people of J&K continue to witness loss of civilian lives, destruction of their property and denial of civil and political rights.”

JKCCS has appealed that the promises of non-state actors, organizations and groups hold little water in terms of their realization on ground. “Civilian spaces continue to remain a contested site of direct hostilities between non-state and the State actors, which result in loss of precious lives, torture and humiliation of civilian populations.”

The statement said there had been consistent media reports streaming in for the past few months about ‘some looming prospect of escalation in the direct hostilities between the State and non-state forces. “Amid the obvious political simmer, and reported ‘prospect of hot summer’ coupled with many recent ‘civilian’ killings, we as a civil society organization feel duty-bound to remind the State as well as non-state actors of their moral, legal, religious obligations toward people.”

JKCCS said it would like to remind the State of India and the leadership of United Jehad Council in the context of continuing armed conflict, about their responsibilities in protecting civilian lives, property and civil rights. “We call upon all combatants whether State or non-state to abide by the minimum and basic principles derived from International Humanitarian Law and other universally accepted principles.”

Basic principles of International Humanitarian Law

1. During operations combatants must not target civilian objects, civilians and those not directly participating in armed hostilities.

2. During military operations, constant care must be taken to spare civilian population, civilians and civilian objects.

3. In order to avoid civilian casualties, military installations in and around population centers must not be created. Attacks against such military objectives which are expected to cause disproportionate civilian casualties and damage must not be launched.

4. During and after the combat operations wounded and sick must be collected and cared for.

5. Civilians must not be taken hostage for any reason or and in any circumstances.

6. During operations when enemy fighters are taken prisoners, they must be treated humanely; they must not be tortured, killed or disappeared in custody.

7. The dead must be respected and their bodies not mutilated. When mortal remains are unidentified, every effort must be made to preserve evidence that could lead to their eventual identification. Graves should be marked. Where the identity of a dead person is known (whether friend or enemy), next of the kin should be promptly informed.

8. Ambulances, medical personnel and fire fighting personnel who take no active part in hostilities must not be attacked, nor obstructed from performing their humanitarian duties.

9. Places of worship and those taking refuge in them must not be attacked in any circumstances.

10. Minorities, women, children, older people and disabled should always be respected and no attempts should be made to infringe upon their rights, dignity and safety.

11. Vehicles and buildings bearing emblems of the Red Cross and the Red Crescent should be respected. These emblems must not be used to deceive enemy during hostilities.

APDP HAILS CANADIAN GOVERNMENT

May 28: APDP, during its monthly sit-in, appreciates the Canadian government’s refusal of visa to perpetrators involved in gross human rights violations in Jammu and Kashmir. Denial of visa to retired Lieutenant General of army, A.S. Bahai who has served as a Brigadier in Jammu & Kashmir state, a former intelligence officer and other army officers for committing human rights violations in Jammu & Kashmir should be appreciated and welcomed by the human rights organizations all over the world, as impunity has become a global issue. It will set a precedent for other countries committed for upholding human rights. It also sends a strong message to the governments allowing and condoning the crimes against humanity under different pretexts. APDP hopes that other governments committed for protecting human rights will follow the example set by Canadian government. 


In Jammu & Kashmir, there are hundreds of perpetrators from army, paramilitary forces and police agencies who have disappeared thousands of non-combatant Kashmiris, since armed conflict started. Even investigations conducted by different state agencies have indicted perpetrators, but no sanction has been granted to prosecute them under AFSPA. There are few cases where prosecution has been made of police officials, but punishment seems unlikely. The perpetrators are enjoying legal impunity as there is institutional repression coupled with moral and political impunity, which has further emboldened them. The perpetrators are convinced that they can get away with anything they do. Under these circumstances when a state is unwilling to seek accountability from the law enforcing agencies, it is the duty of countries committed for upholding human rights to do the needful as human rights anywhere are the global responsibility and not the prerogative of the ruling regimes.  


The police officials are given gallantry awards for killing and disappearing innocent Kashmiris, even admitted sometime back by Justice Aftab Alam and Justice G.S. Singhvi, the judges of Supreme Court of India. These perpetrators are frequenting to the western countries for attending conferences and trainings programmes, and hitherto have never been held accounted for the crimes they committed. Nevertheless, under the visa regime they have to state their backgrounds and past involvements. These officials are enjoying state patronage even after retirement and are still holding important positions in and outside Jammu & Kashmir. 


As long as human rights abusers know that they are likely to escape the punishment, people all over the world will continue to suffer human rights violations; no justice and no redress. APDP will not allow the perpetrators to get away with the crimes they have committed against humanity in Kashmir. APDP will not allow forgetting the past and shall continue the struggle till perpetrators are not exposed and punished according to the international law. 


APDP appeals other countries respecting international humanitarian law to follow the precedent of Canadian government, which is above the political and economic interests. Invariably, governments because of that interest blocks state action. Enforced disappearances are still continuing in Jammu & Kashmir despite change of the governments. The case in point is of a recent fake encounter at Machil sector, where army claimed that they have killed three militants on April 30, 2010. Media investigations while exposing the fake encounter reported that three persons killed in the said encounter were civilians from Nadihal, Bandipora district of north Kashmir. The three men were first abducted / disappeared by government gunmen working for army and later on killed by army, claiming the killed persons were militants. This startling revelation by the media substantiates the fear that fake encounters are still continuing after disappearances of civilians and the army officials are rewarded and promoted for rendering ‘exemplary services’. This incident needs further investigation.


The state and federal governments are still not in a position to respond to the unidentified graves, as they are arrogated with the presumption that by tiring and exhausting the victims, and with the passage of time, the matter will settle itself. Since internal mechanisms have miserably failed so under these circumstances the response from the Canadian government has encouraged the victims in their struggle for justice. APDP salutes the moral stand taken by the Canadian government in this behalf. 

SPO HELD FOR ‘MOLESTING’ MINOR

May 5: The molestation of an eight-year-old girl allegedly by Special Police Officer of Jammu and Kashmir police triggered massive protests at Kralgund area of Langate. Police has arrested and disengaged the errant cop. Hundreds of people took to streets demanding exemplary punishment against the alleged drunken SPO, Sarabjeet Singh (Belt No.194), deployed for guarding the minority community at Rawalpora Kralgund. 


The accused barged into a house and tried to outrage the chastity of minor girl on May 3, the protestor said. “The girl’s screams caught the attention of her mother who rushed towards her room. On seeing her, the cop fled away,” the protesters added. The girl received scars on face while trying to save herself from his clutches, they alleged.

 
The protesters including women and children blocked the Baramulla–Handwara highway for more than two hours disrupting traffic. Following demonstrators, police and senior officials reached on the spot and assured the protestors that action would be taken against the guilty, forcing them to disperse.


 Deputy Superintendent of police Handwara, Ghulam Jeelani Wani said the accused cop had been arrested and disengaged from service. “We have started investigation in the incident and law would take its own course,” he said. An FIR number 36/10, under section 354 RPC (assault or criminal force to woman with intent to outrage her modesty) has been registered against the SPO.

GIRL ‘ABDUCTED’ AGAIN

May 4: Family members of Jabeena, 16, of Ajas Bandipora have alleged that renegades “re-abducted” her on May 1 from their residence. Earlier, they had claimed that she was abducted by the renegades during intervening night of April 5 and 6. “The renegades have again abducted my daughter. We are helpless, “said Jabeena’s mother, Habla who along with other family members protested at Press Enclave. 


The police, according to family members, also lodged an FIR under 156 RPC and arrested the accused Akram Sheikh Chechi, Zakir Chechi and Zulaf Chechi. “But he was released on bail and again abducted my daughter after she was handed over to me by police after 13 days. But now police refuses to file another FIR and instead threatens us,” said Habla.


According to Habla, her family members and other villagers are being continuously threatened by renegades and police. “ Chechi family has backing of Shazu Khan, Aslam Chechi and Iqbal Chechi who are armed renegades and continuously threaten the family,” said Jabeena’s father, Ghulam Ahmad Jan.


However, DSP Sumbal, Tahir Ahmad while talking to media said, “There is no issue of renegades or Ikhwanis. The boy who had taken the girl along was arrested by police and later released on bail and now the girl has again gone away with him.”

OUR SON COMPUTER ILLITERATE

Don’t Know How To Operate Computer

May 3: Family members of Umar Nabi son of Ghulam Nabi Zargar of Kalamdanpora, Nawabazar Srinagar who was arrested by the police on charges of circulating terror emails, accused police of implicating him in a false case. The family alleged that Umar don’t know how to operate computer and he was a school dropout. The family also accused police looted jewelry worth Rs 10 lakhs during raids on their home. However, the police claimed that it had intercepted his calls wherein he spread panic by claiming that there would be terror attacks in several places mainly in New Delhi.


Umar was first picked up by police on April 23, after Friday prayers when protests were going on in the area. He was lodged in police station, Maharaj Gunj till April 26 and was released on bail in the evening, the family said. However, police again picked up Umar—who is a contractor by profession—from his residence on May 2 morning. 


“A police party led by Station House Officer (SHO) Maharaj Gunj raided our residence at 4:30 pm and searched our house. They took a few documents, camera and mobile phones along with them,” said his father. He, however, said that policemen, some of them in civvies, again raided their house at around 7:30 pm. “This time no officer accompanied them. They came and looted everything that came their way. They took the gold ornaments worth about 10 lakhs with them,” said Zargar and broke down.


“These belonged to my daughter who is getting married later this year. And some of the ornaments was the raw material that belong to my customers,” said Zargar, who runs a jewelry shop at Gurgadi Mohalla, Zaina Kadal.


Her mother, Totta Begum, who was being consoled by her neighbors, said that they also took along Umar’s Maruti 800 car and other gifts which his another son had send home from Thailand.

“Police intercepted his calls wherein he spread panic by claiming that there would be terror attacks in several places mainly in New Delhi. We launched a manhunt and arrested the youth,” police sources said.


Family members of Umar Nabi, accused police of implicating him in a false case. They alleged that policemen looted jewelry worth Rs 10 lakhs during raids on their home. “We were shocked to learn that these charges were leveled against our son,” his parents said. “He is a school drop-out and he does not own a computer let alone operate it. How could he circulate emails?” 


Police sources told media that Umar was also involved in stone-pelting incidents and a case stood registered against him at Maharaj Gunj police station. Police sources in MR Gunj disclosed Umar was involved in various stone-pelting incidents and an FIR had been lodged against him under section 307, 148, 149 and 336 of RPC dated 23 April 2010 under FIR No 39/2010. “He was released after the intervention of a senior NC leader,” police sources said.

LAJPAT NAGAR BLAST CASE: MIRZA IFTIKHAR RELEASED

INNOCENCE PROVEN IN 14 YEARS
May 7: It took nearly 14 years for the legal system to prove the innocence of Mirza Iftikhar Hussain, who was arrested along with his brother Nisar on the suspicion of being part of the Lajpat Nagar blast in 1996. He was finally released today by police in New Delhi, weeks after he was acquitted by a court in the Union capital.


Thirty-four-years-old, Mirza Iftikhar was arrested on May 21, 1996 in New Delhi by Delhi police along with his brother Nisar Hussain for their alleged involvement in the Lajpat Nagar blast which had occurred about one month prior to their arrest. Since then both the brothers were kept in Tihar Jail for the last 14 years. After 14 long years of trial, last month the district and sessions judge Delhi, S.P Garg found Iftikhar innocent in the light of the lack of concrete evidence against him. 


Even as Iftikhar was acquitted one month back, he continued in jail and was not released. He was kept in custody in other case regarding his involvement in an alleged scuffle inside the jail. His family members were finally successful in getting him released today on bail. When the two Mirza brothers were arrested Nisar Hussain was 15 years old and Iftikhar was 20 years old, said their uncle. 

The family members said they knew that both of them were deliberately being involved in the blast case, but had not lost hope in getting justice. Although they said that they feel happy on release of Iftikhar but the happiness is incomplete without Nisar who still continues to be in jail and is facing death penalty.

TORTURE TESTIMONIALS
1. Name: Altaf Hussain

Age: 40

Education: M.A

Religion: Islam

Occupation: member JKLF

Militant/Civilian: Militant

Associations: member JKLF

Address: Srinagar

Date of Interview:  25th April, 2009.

Narratives:

In his youth, Altaf was associated with the Students Liberation Front (SLF). He used to participate in pro-freedom protests in Srinagar. On 10th February 1991, Altaf and some members from the organisation were having meeting in the Iqbal Park in Srinagar. In the meantime someone had seen and informed the CRPF about it. He was recognized and captured by the armed force. Altaf tired to escape but was captured after a kilometre of chase by CRPF. After his arrest he was beaten up, his hands were tied. He was blindfolded and taken to a CRPF camp. He was moved to a hall. His legs and hands were tied. They kept beating him for one-and-a-half hours after which he fainted.  Then he was shifted to Hari Niwas. Here about five to six of the CRPF jawans sat on him and started beating him. Then later he was suspended from the ceilings. Then he was beaten with lathis and no questions were asked. His feet had turned black because of the blood clotting. 

Then after sometime he was given electric shocks on his hands, chest, feet and on his genitals. Half-an-hour after the torture he was unconscious. This torture continued for 10-12 days. He was also made to drink a lot of water. He was tortured for 25 days.  Every morning and evening, he was tortured for 2.5 to 4 hours. He was also tortured by SP Raman and SP Gautam. After three-and-half months he was allowed to meet his family. 

Then he was transported to police custody, after some days he was sent to army camp. He was forced to take bath in the freezing water. His hands were tied and he was made to face the wall and stand. He was kept in the police arrest for a month. On name of treatment he was at times provided with some pain killers and iodex balm. He was in the old airport in JIC. 

There was hall were all the arrested people were kept naked. (He also mentioned about that a father and son were also arrested and made naked). They were beaten with wires which had caused infections and many men had died. They were beaten regularly by lathi till blood oozed out of their body. He was kept in the Koth Bhalwal camp for four months. He was badly hit on his ear and still he cannot hear well. He was released on exchange of hostage. 

Then on October 20th 1991, he was captured and tortured in a hotel.  Then he was kept in a camp for a year till March 1992. He mentions that in the torture there was use of rollers, water and he was given electric shocks. He was kept in a solitary confinement. 

In between he was sent to Papa II but this time he was no longer tortured. There many cases which are ongoing. 

He says that, “the whole India is partial towards Kashmiri’s and we will never get justice.”

2. Name: Noor Mohammad Kalwal 

Age: 40

Education: 10th standard 
Religion: Islam

Occupation: senior executive member, JKLF 

Militant/Civilian: militant 

Associations: member JKLF

Address: Srinagar

Date of Interview:  25th April, 2009.

Narratives:

In 1984- 85 Noor does not remember the exact month he was arrested while distributing pamphlets in S R Ganj , Srinagar for advocating the demand of Azad Kashmir. At that time he was an active member of Islamic Student League. He was arrested by the local state police and blindfolded and taken to the local police station. He was beaten with bare hands and his legs and hands were tied up. Police men also resorted to batons as a way of interrogating him on his connections with militant groups. He was beaten up till his body turned blue with the sores that the injuries caused. According to Noor this lasted for 2- 3 days after which he was shifted to Joint Interrogation centre (JIC) at Soura. He was also not allowed to sleep for the duration of the incarceration and he was made to keep standing upright through the night.  

At the JIC the torture methods used were very similar with regular beatings with bare hands and also usage of batons. This method of torture for interrogation continued for 3 days of his confinement there after which the torture stopped. He was there for 25 days after which due to family and community pressure the Police let him free. He also says that the release could also do with the fact that he did not reveal anything to the police. He was also warned that he should keep away from anti-state activities in future. No medical treatment was offered to him and his family was able to meet him only after one day of his incarnation. 

He was again picked up from Soura on June 21, 1989 as he was a member of JKLF by then. He was performing namaz (prayer) when he was identified in the mosque by an informer of the Crime Branch, Srinagar. This time he was again blindfolded and taken to the Joint Interrogation Center, Srinagar. 

He was beaten up by the interrogators again and this time also with bare hands and batons were used. They also used torches were used to ensure that he could not sleep. He was at the camp for 10 days and constantly interrogated about his work with JKLF and the place that the ammunition is kept. He admits to being an active militant with JKLF at this time. He was released as negotiation between the government and the JKLF, as one of those exchanged in place for Rubina Sayyed who was kidnapped by the militant group. This was on 13th December 1989. He then went underground while being an active militant till 1991. 

He was again arrested on 8th October 1991 by the CRPF police. By this time he had been promoted as the deputy chief of JKLF. He was again arrested as he had been identified by an informer of the police. He was taken to the Hari Niwas camp this time. 

His hands and legs were tied up at the camp and he was lifted upside down and was interrogated for hours on his work with JKLF. He was also given electric shocks on his private parts, legs and hands. This went on for 10 days for 2 hours each after which the police let him rest his sore body. He was not given food for days and not allowed to sleep too. There were also no fixed times to go the toilets and they were forced to use the cell they were put in for toilet needs. He was at the camp for 1 and a half month after which he was shifted to Kot Bilwal camp. 

He was taken in a helicopter to the camp blindfolded with a dozen others accompanied by officials. On reaching Jammu he was kept blindfolded with minimum clothes for 3 hours in the sun. He was interrogated there by officials who constantly beat him up but no other torture method was used. Noor was told that as he had never physically participated in the killings of people the officials went slow on him. 

He was later shown arrested under the PSA act and was shifted to various jails around the state- Srinagar jail, Rang Rethe jail, Udhampur jail etc. He was released by the government on 3rd May 2003 spending 11 and a half years in jails of the state. 

There was no medical treatment provided by the state during his stay at the different jails and police stations. Lawyer services were provided by JKLF 

Today Noor eyesight is weak, heart related problems, back problems, and diabetes. He was also arrested a number of times as he is still involved as an active member of the JKLF and participating in their propaganda activities. 
AMNESTY'S MISSION KASHMIR

INVESTIGATE PSA CASES, HR VIOLATIONS

May 17: To assess the human rights situation first-hand, two-member Amnesty International (AI) team, headed by Ramesh Gopal Krishna, arrived in Srinagar on a six-day visit. It is for the first time in 22 years of conflict that an international human rights agency has been allowed to visit the valley to assess the ground situation, viz human rights. Despite repeated pleas by human rights groups, government of India (GoI) had not allowed any international human rights organization to visit the strife torn and conflict ridden valley of Kashmir. Although the doors of Kashmir have been thrown open for the Amnesty International- a worldwide movement of people who campaign for internationally recognized human rights for all - but it has not been allowed to open its office at New Delhi.


The team intends to investigate the cases of public safety act (PSA) and other draconian laws. The team will also collect gather information about the incidents of human rights violations committed over 22 years of conflict in Kashmir. 


After arriving in Srinagar, the AI team, accompanied by convener of International People's Tribunal on Human Rights, Parvez Imroz, drove straight to the house of detained separatist leader and chairman Democratic Freedom Party (DFP), Shabir Ahmad Shah. In its two-hour stay in Shah’s house, the team inquired about the health of Shah from his family members and the party leaders. 


Shah’s wife, Dr Bilkees, acting chairman of DFP, Maulana Mohammad Abdullah Tari and the party’s executive members, informed the team about Shah’s detention, his health, and the healthcare facilities provided to him in the jail. Talking to a local news agency, Dr Bilkees said that she had informed the AI team about her hardships which she has to face owing to the continuous detention of her husband. The AI was told that Shah was booked seven times under PSA during last two years. The team collected all the relevant details from the family in this connection. 


Amnesty International has, in the past, condemned the use of “India’s brutal oppression” in Kashmir. The group had called upon US president, Barack Hussain Obama, to raise the issue with Indian Prime Minister, Manmohan Singh, in Washington. 


"The Indian side of Kashmir is an area where the security forces commit mass human rights abuses with impunity...facilitated by the Armed Forces (Special Powers) Act and other similar laws," it had written to Obama.


When the issue of unidentified mass graves came to fore, the AI had urged Indian government to launch urgent investigations into the mass graves, “which are thought to contain the remains of victims of human rights abuses in the context of the armed conflict that has raged in the region since 1989”. 


The team is slated to meet Hurriyat Conference (M) chairman, Mirwaiz Umar Farooq, Hurriyat Conference (G) chairman, Syed Ali Geelani, JKLF chairman, Mohammad Yaseen Malik, and other separatist leaders tomorrow. On Wednesday, May 17, 2010 the team will interact with top government functionaries. The team is also likely to meet chief minister, Omar Abdullah, People’s Democratic Party (PDP) president, Mehbooba Mufti, DGP, Kuldeep Khoda.   


According to sources, the separatist leaders, during their interaction with the AI team, would apprise it of growing human rights violations, Shopian double murder and rape case, and the killings of three innocent students in Rainawari, Nishat and Lal Chowk this year.


On May 21, The AI team met the chairperson of the State Human Rights Commission Justice (retd) Bashir-ud-din. They also met the delegation of All Parties Sikh Coordination Committee (APSC) headed by its coordinator Jaghmohan Singh Raina. “The APSC demanded fresh probe in the killings of Sikhs in the Valley,” sources said.


 “The agriculture land, orchards and other properties of the Sikh community have been occupied by forces without any compensation,” the sources quoted APSC members having told the AI team. The team members also interacted with the activists of Jammu and Kashmir Mass Movement and office bearers of International Committee for Red Cross (ICRC).

Meanwhile, the team members of the Amnesty International said that they would release their report on detentions under Public Safety Act (PSA) by the end of this year.    


On May 23, the AI 2-member team winded up its 6-day Kashmir visit. The team before leaving for New Delhi accused Jammu and Kashmir Government of preventing it from visiting Srinagar Central Jail. “We had requested the authorities to allow us to visit the detainees lodged in the Central Jail here. However, our request was turned down,” team members said in a handout.  


Giving details about their 6-day visit, the team members said, “Visit was aimed at securing a better understanding of the current human rights situation in the state which witnessed an armed uprising in 1989.” 


 They said the team wanted to discuss the Amnesty’s future work as part of its continued engagement in the region. “We met the Chief Minister, Omar Abdullah, leader of opposition Mehbooba Mufti, separatist leaders, Syed Ali Shah Geelani, Mirwaiz Umar Farooq, Abdul Ahad Parra and family members of detained leaders Shabir Ahmad Shah and Nayeem Ahmad Khan,” they said. 


 “We held discussions with various organizations including the Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons, Coalition of Civil Society, Peoples Rights Movement, Muslim Khawateen Markaz and Majlis-e-Mashrawat Shopian. We also met representatives of the Kashmiri Pandit and Sikh communities and number of activists from Varmul, Sopore and Poonch,” they said. 


 “We also conducted research on cases of preventive detention under the JK Public Safety Act, met former detainees and families of those in detentions, the JK High Court Bar Association, International Committee of the Red Cross, State Human Rights Commission and various lawyers and journalists.”  


 The team said it also met top officials of the State Government including the Chief Secretary, Home Secretary, DGP and AGDP (Criminal Investigation Department). The team also raised preliminary concerns relating to misuse of the PSA “The AI will complete its ongoing research into preventive detentions and subsequently release its report,” they added.

HANDICAPPED BOOKED UNDER PSA, AGAIN

May 27: A physically challenged person, who was booked under Public Safety Act (PSA) for the second time, has challenged his detention in the High Court. The court has admitted his petition and directed the authorities to file their objections within two weeks. 


Bashir Ahmad Dar of Zainidi Mohalla, Saidapora Sopore approached High Court with a habeas corpus petition through his counsel praying before the court that his detention vide order No. DMS/PSA/02/2010 dated April 20, 2010 be quashed. His counsel submitted in the petition, “The detainee is handicapped by left leg and is not in a position to walk or stand on his legs. Disabled certificate issued by a team of doctors headed by CMO Baramulla is enclosed with the petition”.


Asserting that the detainee is an innocent, the petition states, “Bashir being a law abiding citizen of the State was never involved in militancy. He was arrested from his house without any justification and taken to Air Cargo interrogation centre, where he was subjected to torture. Thereafter, he was booked in a false and fabricated case under FIR 61/2008 in 2008. Later, he was released on bail.”


However, in 2009 he was booked under PSA vide order no. DMS/PSA/31/2009 dated August 31, 2009, which was challenged before the High Court. “Subsequently his detention order was quashed by the court and he was set free. But in April 2010, he was arrested by CIK personnel and detained at PS Humhama. He was again booked under PSA vide No. DMS/PSA/02/2010 dated April 24, 2010,” states the petition.


Bashir challenged his detention under the PSA on the grounds that the detention order was passed on the same grounds which had already been set aside by the High Court on March 25, 2009. “The dossier and material referred and considered by the detaining authority have not been furnished to the detenue,” states the petition. 


Terming the grounds of detention as ‘vague and non-existent’, the petitioner submitted, “Mandamus may be issued against the respondents to disclose under what authority of law CIK sleuths arrested the detainee.” Justice Hasnain Masoodi, who heard the petition this week, after hearing the arguments of petitioner’s counsel issued notices to the authorities to file their reply within two weeks. The next hearing of the case has been fixed after three weeks.

KUPWARA VILLAGE SUFFERS 13-YR BONDED LABOUR

May 20: The Criminal Investigation Department (CID) of Jammu and Kashmir police in its report has verified that people of 24 villages in Mawar area in border district of Kupwara were subjected to forced labor without compensation by army from 1990 to 2003.


The CID carried out the investigation after MLA Handwara Abdur Rashid Sheikh lodged a complaint on December 10, 2009 before State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) alleging that people of Mawar and adjoining villages were taken as “bonded labor” by army during the turmoil years.


“CID has verified our complaint and found that people of 24 villages from Khangan to Nowgam in Mawar were forcibly taken by army to work without any reimbursement or compensation. The practice by army continued from 1990 to February 2003,” Rashid said while quoting CID report. He said CID report was submitted to SHRC on May 17 while it was handed over to him on May 18.


Terming the report as significant, he said, “I myself have worked for 13 years as a bonded labor for army. You cannot imagine how much trauma people have faced. Sometimes they had to work for months together without any reimbursement”.


Rashid said CID report should serve as an eye opener for those, who keep watch on rights violations. “Government needs no evidence now. The Chief Minister should take up the issue with Prime Minister and seek action against the army men involved in the illegal and inhuman act,” he said. The residents of border areas have time and again alleged that they were being forced to work as bonded laborers by army. 

ARMY LEAVES UNEXPLODED SHELLS IN KHAG

HUMAN LIVES ARE AT RISK: LOCALS

AREA IS RESTRICTED FOR ARMY: DEF SPOKESMAN

May 16: Unexploded shells of the military exercise have left the residents of Khag in jittery who fear the shells may explode anytime resulting in the loss of human lives. Village Khanqa Drang, 45 km north of Srinagar, routinely witnesses army firing form the high ground Pathri to Tousa Maidan for the past 20 years, locals say.


Being economically backward, the area has a lot of people who move to the mountainous region in search of iron shells to earn some money. “With some shells remaining unexploded, there is a constant danger of damage to human life,” says a local Dr Ghulam Rasool. Not only do humans face danger but forests and the cattle are also prone to the explosions. “Shepherds graze cattle in the area. Besides, wild animals too are in danger.”


“Abdul Majeed Sheikh, Farooq Ahmad Sheikh, Mushtaq Ahmad and Abdul Khaliq Tarry have become victims of the unexploded shells,” says a local Nazir Ahmad Sheikh, adding that many victims also became handicapped. Between December and April, the area doesn’t witness any shelling due to winter. With the arrival of spring, shelling starts again.”


“An area near the rest house was registered with the army. However, now army has the ownership of the entire area from Sitharan to Drang and it is here where they conduct their exercises. No particular army camp carries these exercises here. However, army personnel from different camps come at anytime and start shelling,” locals say.


However defense spokesperson, J S Brar says the State government has notified the area for the army. “This place is restricted for public movement. The ground is meant for the military exercises and no person is allowed to move in such places to ensure security,” he says


Considering it a standard custom since decades, Deputy Commissioner Budgam, Muhammad Rafi says the exercise takes place after proper advertising, and following standard operators and procedures of the army. “There are safeguards of the army who monitor all processes and before the actual firing, campaigns of awareness are held in the area to notify people,” he said.

BORDER FENCING LEAVES 40,267 ACRES IN JK UNCULTIVATED

May 30: Jammu and Kashmir government said 40,267 acres of land was lying uncultivated between border fencing and zero-line on the Indo-Pak border in the state due to restrictions in the area. The farmers, it said, were not given compensation for the acquired fields.

 “About 3,22,142 kanals (40267 acres) of land including agriculture fields are lying barren in between the border fencing and International Border (IB), Line of Control (LOC),” Financial Commissioner, Home Department, said in a report submitted to an Assembly panel.


 Army and BSF have constructed three-tiered fencing with flood lighting along 920 kms of borderline. This vast stretch of land has been inaccessible for local population and farmers due to the border fencing, the report said. “Since the indent for land acquisition has not been issued, no compensation has been paid to the land owners till date,” the report, made available to the media here, said. Land acquisition cases were taken up with security forces and they were requested to pay lease amount for land till the same was acquired under Land Acquisition Act, it said.


 The issue was taken up for discussion at a highest level meeting chaired by the Union Cabinet Secretary in New Delhi, wherein it was assured that it would be sorted out and compensation paid to affected land holders. The Jammu and Kashmir Assembly Committee on Government Assurances asked the government to collect details of agriculture land located between fencing and Indo-Pak border and compensation paid, so far, to land holders.

BODY FISHED OUT OF WULLAR
May 29: Police claimed to have fished out body of a youth from the Wullar Lake in Kulhama village. The deceased has been identified as Amir Rashid Sofi, 18 a resident of Amira Kadal, Srinagar. The identity of deceased was established from documents found from the clothes he was wearing.


Quoting the statement of the deceased, SHO Bandipora Abdul Khalid told media that deceased was missing from Nawabazar from the last ten days.” We fished out the body when a local fisherman informed police about the presence of dead boy in Wullar Lake near Kulhama Village,” he said. After completing the legal process body was handed over to the parents of the deceased.

MUSLIMS POOR IN MUSLIM MAJORITY JK: REPORT
May 1: A study carried out by J&K government has highlighted that the Muslims, majority community of the state, are poorer than other communities. “The highest incidence of poverty in the state is among Muslims,” states the Economic survey conducted by the Economics and Statistics department earlier this year. The report which was to be tabled in the Legislative Assembly was shelved despite assurance from the government to make it public.  


“The BPL population is highest among Muslims with 24.51 per cent, followed by 24.50 percent Buddhist, 18.14 per cent Hindus, 7.51 per cent Sikhs and 3.12 per cent Christians,” the survey states. However, the report has no mention about causes that are responsible for highest incidence of poverty among Muslims.


The Director Economics and Statistics, G N Qureshi, told media that the area of study for the survey was only to identify the population living below poverty line. Jammu and Kashmir has a total of 24.21 lakh persons belonging to BPL category. It includes 26.14 percent BPL population from rural areas and while as 7.96 percent BPL population is from urban areas. 


In Kashmir Valley the total BPL population has been worked out as 21.37 per cent (12.91 lakh). The BPL population percentage stood at 27.03 per cent in Ladakh region which is part of Kashmir division. The report mentioned that at the rural level, Kashmir Division (26.58 percent) has more BPL population as compare to Jammu division (25.61 percent). However, in contrast the Jammu division has more urban poverty percentage (8.19 percent) as compared to Kashmir (7.81 percent). In Jammu division the total BPL population is 10.59 lakh.


The highest incidence of poverty among Muslim persists even though primary class enrolment of Muslim children exceeded 5.3 lakh in 2005 with the boy-girl ratio a healthy one of 50.3: 49.7. The number of Muslim male literates has increased by 25 per cent and the women literates by 23 percent over the past two decades, pointed out the report.


Besides, Kashmir valley produces more than 16,000 Muslim graduates every year and the number of postgraduates crosses 3,000 annually. The figure for female students pursuing higher education is also encouraging. Of the 57,000 students enrolled in colleges, more than 25,000 are girls.


Earlier a BPL survey had presented a grim picture about the economic status of the Muslim community. The survey, which was also conducted by Directorate of Economics and Statistic, had revealed that the incidence of poverty was higher among Muslims and higher number of families below the poverty line belonged to Muslim majority districts.


The survey had stated that Kupwara and Bandipora in Kashmir and Kargil in Leh division were the poorest districts in Kashmir region. While as Ramban, Kishtwar, Poonch and Reasi districts of Jammu region were identified as poorest. That time the study had however attributed higher incidence of poverty to the illiteracy. However, the study had run contrary to the findings of the Sachar Committee report which had painted an encouraging picture of the educational status of the Valley Muslims.

EXPLOSIONS

· MYSTERIOUS BLAST IN DODA

2 MINORS INJURED, HAND GRENADE FOUND IN SAMBA

May 2: Two minors were injured in a mysterious blast while playing in fields at village Dhar Dachnan in Doda. Police said that Rehan Latief 3, and Burhan Latief 9, sons of Abdul Latief Bittu and residents of Dhar Dachnan were injured in a mysterious blast in their fields.


According to police sources, both the children were playing in the field and Bhuran lifted an agricultural tool and started digging the field. Suddenly there was a blast which resulted in injuries to the children. After hearing the sound of blast, relatives of the children and other villagers rushed to the spot and they immediately shifted both the minors to Doda hospital. 


ADC Doda, Ataullah Rehman Natnoo, SSP Doda Parbhat Singh, DSP Headquarters Nazir Ahmed Ganai, CMO Bashir Ahmad Bhat, Superintendent of hospital Farid Ahmed rushed to the hospital and inquired about the incident. Police also started investigation about this incident and a case has been registered in this regard in the concerned Police Station.

· GRENADE EXPLOSION IN DODA 

May 2: Two members of a Village Defence Committee (VDC) were injured when militants opened fire after hurling grenade in a house under mysterious circumstances in mountainous Doda district. 

According to police sources, some unidentified persons dropped a hand grenade through a chimney in the house of one Des Raj in village Koti of Kangana area in Doda and opened fire late last night. The grenade explosion and firing in the house resulted in injuries to two people identified as Rakesh Kumar 18, son of Dev Raj and Chunni Lal son of Des Raj both residents of Koti of Khangna, area of Doda.


After hearing sound of grenade villagers rushed to the spot and they immediately shifted both the injured to the district hospital wherefrom they were shifted to Government Medical College hospital Jammu. A case has been registered in this regard to the concern Police Station.

· TROOPER INJURED IN IED BLAST

May 3: An army trooper was injured in an IED blast triggered by suspected militants near the Line of Control in Poonch district. Police said militants had planted two Improvised Explosive Devices (IEDs) near a forward defense location in Kanga Nallah area. Though no one was injured in the first blast at 9:30 am, the explosion at 11 am left trooper Daleep Kumar injured. He was hospitalised.The IEDs were triggered through remote control, police said.

· GRENADE BLAST AT AMIRAKADAL

May 4: Suspected militants appeared in the heart of the city and lobbed a hand grenade on a paramilitary CRPF bunker near busy Amira Kadal, injuring one civilian. Eyewitnesses said that the device missed the target - a bunker of 144 battalion of CRPF - and exploded on the roadside near the entrance of the Hanuman temple. 

A civilian Ghulam Qadir Dagga of Mehjoor Nagar received minor injuries in the blast. The troopers, however, didn’t suffer any damage. 

· 6 INJURED IN GRENADE BLAST

May 14: Three CRPF troopers, one India Reserve Police cop and two civilians were injured in a grenade attack at Saraf Kadal in old city. Police said the grenade was aimed at a bunker of the 44 Battalion CRPF after a joint party of police and paramilitary troopers were chasing the stone-pelting youth in the area. 


“After Friday prayers at Jamia Masjid, protesters appeared on the streets in Shahr-e-Khaas and started pelting stones. The grenade was lobbed by one of the protesters,” Senior Superintendent of Police, Srinagar, Javed Reyaz Bedar told media. The injured Head Constable Ashok Kumar and Constable Santosh of CRPF, Constable Bilal Ahmad of IRP and a local shopkeeper, Manzoor Ahmad Tramboo. While the identity of two other injured persons- a CRPF trooper and a civilian could not ascertained immediately. 


The Srinagar- based spokesman of CRPF, Prabhakar Tripathi said the incident occurred after the CRPF and policemen were chasing the protesters. He, however, said the attack was not aimed at CRPF picket but on the chasing troopers.


On May 15, one of the injured constable succumbed to his injuries. The deceased Constable has been identified as Constable Bilal Ahmad of Tral.

SUICIDES/ FRATRACIDIAL KILLINGS

· SPO KILLS ASI, SHOOTS SELF

May 2: A SPO posted with the Government Railway Police (GRP) shot dead his senior before killing himself after the duo entered into an argument over some trivial issue. Police sources said that Constable Sonu Sharma posted at Chhan Rorian Railway Police post in district Kathua entered into an argument with his Senior Assistant Sub Inspector, Bishan Dass, over some petty issue last night.

After the heated argument, Sonu Sharma first fired at Bishan Dass, incharge of the post with his service weapon and later killed himself. Both of them died on the spot. Police however, failed to know the actual reason behind the extreme step. 

· TROOPER ENDS LIFE

May 3: An army trooper allegedly committed suicide by hanging himself from a ceiling fan in Jammu’s Udhampur district, police said. “Lance Naik Balu Ji was found hanging in his quarter at an army camp in Udhampur last night,” a police official said.

The reason for the apparent suicide could not be immediately ascertained, he added. Meanwhile, army has instituted a court of Inquiry into the incident. 

· ARMY MAN SHOOTS SELF

May 5: An army man committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle at Keri Sector of tehsil Nowshera in Rajouri. Naik Ajay Kumar of 8 Maharashtra Rifles shot himself when he was on guard duty. The reason behind taking this extreme step was not ascertained.


On hearing the gun shot, other troopers rushed towards spot and found him in a pool of blood. The critically wounded trooper succumbed on way to hospital. The army have ordered probe into the incident, while police have also initiated inquest proceedings under section 174 of RPC to ascertain the reason of taking the extreme step.

· TROOPER SHOOTS SELF

May 30: A constable of paramilitary Central Reserve Police Force’s 118 battalion committed suicide by shooting himself with his own service rifle at Gund, Ganderbal.  According to police, the deceased has been identified as Satiyadan Meena (No. 045203317) son of Mala Ram of Gujalpora Rajasthan. Police has registered a case.

REPORTED DISAPPEARANCES

· BOY MISSING

May 11: Mujtaba Amir Sidique S/o Mohammad Sidique Hakim R/o Navid Kadal Nallamdar Road Srinagar left home on May 10 early in the morning. Since then the whereabouts of Mujtaba Amir have not been ascertained. 

· STUDENT MISSING

May 14: A student of class XI has gone missing in Handwara. Danish Farooq son of Farooq Ahmad Bhat of Kulangam, Handwara left for school on May 11, but didn’t return home. The family has filed a missing report in the police station.
KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF MAY-2010

	DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	May 01
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 02
	2
	1
	-
	-

	May 03
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 04
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 05
	3
	-
	-
	-

	May 06
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 07
	2
	5
	2
	-

	May 08
	-
	4
	-
	-

	May 09
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 10
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 11
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 12
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 13
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 14
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 15
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 16
	-
	-
	1
	-

	May 17
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 18
	2
	-
	-
	-

	May 19
	1
	5
	-
	-

	May 20
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 21
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 22
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 23
	-
	-
	1
	1(Dead body)

	May 24
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 25
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 26
	-
	2
	-
	-

	May 27
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 28
	-
	-
	-
	-

	May 29
	-
	-
	-
	1(Dead body)

	May 30
	1
	-
	-
	-

	May 31
	-
	7
	-
	-

	TOTAL
	14
	24
	4
	2

	                                                                              IN TOTAL
	44 KILLINGS


	Date
	Custodial and Extra judicial Killings
	Women Killed
	Children Killed
	Alleged Disappearances

	10 May 2010
	-
	-
	-
	1

	11 May 2010
	-
	-
	-
	1

	19 May 2010
	-
	-
	-
	1

	TOTAL
	0
	0
	0
	7


CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS

May 1: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

May 2: A SPO posted with the Government Railway Police identified as Constable Sonu Sharma shot dead his senior identified as Assistant Sub Inspector, Bishan Dass before killing himself after the duo entered into an argument over some trivial issue. Meanwhile, two minors were injured in a mysterious blast while playing in fields at village Dhar Dachnan in Doda. The injured have been identified as Rehan Latief 3, and Burhan Latief 9, sons of Abdul Latief Bittu and residents of Dhar Dachnan. In another incident, family of Bashrat Ahmad, a militant with Harkat-ul-Mujahideen (HuM) outfit, was informed by some anonymous caller that he has been killed in an encounter in Machil sector in frontier district of Kupwara. In a statement to a local news agency KNS, a person identifying himself as Hassan Askari claimed Basharat’s killing in an encounter. Basharat Saleem son of Bashir Ahmed Sheikh was a militant with HuM and the security agencies had kept a reward of Rs. 10 Lakh on Basharat’s death or arrest. However, DIG north Kashmir while refuting the HuM statement said that Basharat was killed by his own outfit. 

May 3: An army trooper allegedly committed suicide by hanging himself from a ceiling fan in Jammu’s Udhampur district. The deceased has been identified as Lance Naik Balu Ji. Meanwhile, an army trooper was injured in an IED blast triggered by suspected militants near the LoC in Poonch district. The injured has been identified as Daleep Kumar. 

May 4: An army Captain was wounded in an ongoing gunfight at Chitibanday, in Bandipora district

May 5: An Army Major and a trooper were killed in a gunfight in Bandipora district. The deceased troopers have been identified as Major Yogendra Rajbar and Rifleman Uttam Singh. Meanwhile, an army man identified as Naik Ajay Kumar of 8 Maharashtra Rifles committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle at Keri Sector of tehsil Nowshera in Rajouri. 
May 6: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

May 7: Police and army claimed to have killed six militants in Rafiabad forests of Baramulla district while two troopers were also killed in the gunfight. Though police claimed that all the six were militants, however one of them has been identified as a local civilian. He has been identified as Ghulam Mohammad Kumar of Panzala, Baramulla. Meanwhile, unidentified gunmen shot dead a man in Kangan. The gunmen barged into the house of Muhammad Lateef Gigi son of Ali Muhammad Gigi at Akhal and resorted to indiscriminate firing injuring Lateef critically. He was rushed to the hospital where doctors declared him brought dead.

May 8: Two militants were killed in a fierce gun-battle with troops in Handwara. The identity and group affiliations of the slain militants were yet to be ascertained. Meanwhile, army claimed to have killed two militants of Hizb-ul–Mujahideen outfit including self styled district commander in an encounter in the mountainous district of Reasi. The slain militants were identified as District Commander Ghulabgarh and Mahore Abdul Rehman alias A-5 resident of Shadol (active since 1996) and his associate Arif Khan of Khour Ghulabgarh.

May 9:  No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

May 10: At least 25 persons were injured in the clashes between police and protesters across the valley. Two persons also received rubber bullets. The people were protesting against the human rights violations, detention of Kashmiris, sentencing to death of Kashmiris, eight percent reservation for the scheduled castes in inter district recruitment and conducting of census by non state subject employees. 

May 11: Three militants and a trooper were killed while another trooper was critically injured in a fierce gun-battle in Handwara area Kupwara district.

May 12: A paramilitary trooper was killed in a gunfight with militants in Handwara forests of Kupwara district.
May 13: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

May 14: Three CRPF troopers, one India Reserve Police cop and two civilians were injured in a grenade attack at Saraf Kadal in old city. Police said the grenade was aimed at a bunker of the 44 Battalion CRPF after a joint party of police and paramilitary troopers were chasing the stone-pelting youth in the area. The injured have been identified as Head Constable Ashok Kumar and Constable Santosh of CRPF, Constable Bilal Ahmad of IRP and a local shopkeeper, Manzoor Ahmad Tramboo. While the identity of two other injured persons- a CRPF trooper and a civilian could not ascertained immediately. 

May 15:  The policeman who was injured in yesterday’s grenade attack by militants in Saraf Kadal area succumbed to his injuries. The deceased Constable has been identified as Constable Bilal Ahmad of Tral.

May 16: Death of a 30-year-old man under ‘mysterious circumstances’ in New Delhi triggered massive protests in Rohama, with family accusing the Delhi police of foul-play. The deceased has been identified as Abdur Rahim Gojri, hailing from this village, nearly 70 kms from Srinagar. 

May 17: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.
May 18: Two army troopers were killed and three others wounded in an ambush by unidentified gunmen near Line of Control in Poonch sector. The deceased troopers have been identified as Lans naik Yogesh and Lans naik Atul of 17 Mahar Regiment.
May 19: Three militants including a commander of Hizbul Mujahideen were killed in a gunfight with troops in Kellar, Pulwama. The slain militants have been identified as Latif Tedwa a Battalion Commander of HM, Rafiq Bhat and Imran. Meanwhile Police and army claimed to have killed two commanders of Lashkar-e-Toiba in a joint operation in the mountainous Doda district. A Special police officer who got injured in the encounter later succumbed to his injuries. The slain militants have been identified as Abdullah Anas, LeT divisional commander and Abu Maaz, district commander of the same outfit. 
May 20: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.
May 21: Thirty persons were injured when police burst smoke shells and resorted to lathicharge on pro-freedom demonstrations held in different parts of the valley.

May 22: A youth identified as Owais Ahmad Sheikh of Banglow Bagh Baramulla was injured after hit on chest by rubber bullet fired by police during clashes at Transport Yard.
May 23: Unidentified gunmen shot dead the president of Sopore Traders Federation Ghulam Nabi Khan, 52, from a close range when he was on way to Ambragad. Khan, a resident of Noor Bagh, New colony Sopore was also associated with the ruling party National Conference. Meanwhile, police fished out a body from river Jhelum at Mujgund Sumbal. The deceased has been identified as Jahangir Ahmad Khan son of Muhammad Yaqoob of SR Gunj, Nowhatta Srinagar. Police said he was missing since May 14.

May 24: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

May 25: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.
May 26: Army claimed to have foiled an infiltration bid by killing two unidentified militants near Line of Control (LoC) in Tanghdar area of Kupwara district. 
May 27: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.
May 28: No incidents of violence were reported from any part of the valley.

May 29: At least six persons were wounded when police resorted to baton charge and fired tear smoke canisters to disperse the mourners while they tried to march towards the Baramulla town. The people were demonstrating against the killing of three youth in fake encounter in Machil sector on April 30 who were later identified as civilians. Meanwhile, Police fished out body of a youth from Wullar Lake in Kulhama, Bandipora. The deceased has been identified as Amir Rashid Sofi, 18 a resident of Amira Kadal, Srinagar. The deceased was missing from Nawabazar from last ten days.

May 30: A constable of Paramilitary Central Reserve Police Force’s 118 battalion committed suicide by shooting himself with his own service rifle at Gund, Ganderbal. The deceased has been identified as Mala Ram of Gujalpora Rajasthan. Meanwhile, more than 20 persons were injured when police resorted to baton charge and fired tear smoke canisters towards the people who were protesting against the delayed justice to Shopian rape victims.

May 31: Army claimed to have killed four militants in an encounter in Rafiabad. Meanwhile, a joint party of troopers and personnel of SOG killed two militants in an encounter in Sopore. In another incident, a militant was of Hizbul Mujahideen in a gun battle in Doda district. The slain militant has been identified as Bashir of Laloor.


MORE SKELETONS TUMBLE OUT


May 28: The family of Tanveer Ahmed Najar of Nadihal Rafiabad who went missing three years ago were shocked when they found his photograph with the police among the “militants” claimed to have been killed in encounters with the Army.  Tanveer’s cousin Ghulam Nabi, who was among the group of villagers witnessing exhumation of bodies at Kalaroos, broke down when he saw his photograph pasted among the slain “militants” in the office of SP Kupwara.


 “He (Ghulam Nabi) informed us that he saw Tanveer’s photograph at SP office Kupwara among the killed militants”, said Tanveer’s brother Mehrajuddin Najar.  He said Tanveer was a student when he left his studies after his father’s death.  “But suddenly went missing. We failed to trace him,” he said.


 	However Tanveer’s friend Aijaz said a government gunman, Basher Ahmad Lone, arrested in the killing of the three civilians of Nadihal village, was also behind his (Tanveer’s) disappearance. “Tanveer was abducted by Bashir Ikhwani and his accomplice Fayaz Ahmad. The duo was involved in various killings. They had spread a reign of terror and nobody dared to raise voice against them as they had the support of some senior army officers,” he alleged.





UJC COMMITTED TO OBSERVE INT’L HUMANITARIAN LAW


May 5: Responding to the JK Coalition of Civil Society chairman, Parvez Imroz’s appeal for observance of international humanitarian rights law in the state, the United Jihad Council spokesman, Syed Sadaqat Hussain said the Jihadi leadership stood by its commitment and promised that militants would not carry out IED blasts against troops in markets and populated areas.


	 “We abide by the commitment that troops would be our target in operations,” said Syed Sadaqat in a statement issued from Pakistan Administered Kashmir, adding “UJC chairman, Syed Salah-ud-Din has signed Landmine Ban Treaty and abides by its commitment. After signing the Treaty, it can’t be proved that the militants ever carried out a landmine attack on troops at any populated place or anywhere where the troops could target civilians and property in retaliation.” 


	 “However, if militants are trapped in any civilian habitation they can launch attack in their defence,” he said. He said militants a few months ago carried out attacks on troops near border where there was no population and used landmines. 
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